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In tlis appeal we address a judgment of the trial court dismissing tke claims

of the plaintiffs Thomas L McGuire CII McGuire and E l7ouglas Henriksen

Henrilzsera with prejudice at tlleir cost and also dismissing the claims of the

plaintiffinrecorvention John J Kelly Kelly with prejudice at his cost We

rvez in part and affirn in part

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

This litigation involves a bay front home and property located in a gated

subdivision in Santa Rosa Beach near Destin lorida The property was purchased

by McGuire Henriksen and Kelly collectively known as the parties in May

2004 for the appioximate price of123Q0000 At the time o1 the purchase the

property was appraised for2SOOOOOOQ The parties purchased the property as

an investment and based on their belief that tle property would increase in value

they decided to maintain ownership tor one year before selling the property for a

profit Contributions to the down paytnent of 14200000 were made by the

paities in thfollowing mounts and proportions Kelly491600 50

McGuire 4245800 25 and Henriksen 4245800 25 The parties

obtained secured loans of 96800000and 1OQ00000trom two different lenders

resulting in tirst and second mortgages and a debt of approximately l million on

the property

Jusi p ic thc purchase the pai sigried ari amended operating agreement with Sandesiin
Investments LLC a compay origially tortned by Kelly which provided that the priies
shall parlicipate ia and be allocated profits losses and distributions ol the Conpany in ihe
lollowin pei of iYleresl Kelly5S Henriksen a1d MeGuire2250each The

agreeYlent also povided that Kelly was thc manaing nernber who had certain powers
incldin iuihoi to disburse turds nd pay dcbts and that the partics etch had a votc equal to
thcir perccitage intere5t Howevc the agreemet5ccitically provided that any aciion to sell
ilioriage or encuinbcr itxazilovableprcquied an aftirmativ voie of 60 iriterest ar in
olher woi an afifiirttative voie by Kully ancl ai leasC onc of t11e other OW11CTS McGuire or
Henriksn Shortly aIter the purclaase the parties cxccuted acuitclaim deed transferrin tle
properiy o Sandestii InvestmenisIIC In June 2005 the parties had neither listed the
property with a realto nor sold the property and ownership was transferred Irom Sandestin
ItivestmentsIICback to the individual partics by execuiion o a warranty deed lhe parties
the1 reithe second mortgae and obtained a lcan for 3UU00000 which was used to pay



On May 23 2O0 Kelly contacted an attorney David Voss Voss and

asked him to notarize a quitclaim deed transferring the plaintiffs awnerskip to

Kelly Voss met Kelly t a local restarant and bar Out of the presence of Voss

Kelly fored thc plaintiffs names on the document and presented it to Voss who

notarized tl deed without actually seeiYag McGuire and Henriksen sign The next

day based on the reprsentaticnin th notarized quitclaim deed that he was the

sole owner o1 the property Kelly received a loan forlb000000 from

Countrywide Home Mortgage Loans Inc Countrywide which was secured by

a mortgage on the property The loan funds were used to pay oifthe first and

second mortaesto pay the retinancing closing casts and to pay Kelly acash

out suin of approximatcly 3E200000 The quitclaim deed and thc mortgage

documents were recorded in the Florida county public records where the proprty

is located

A tew months later after conductin acleck of the public records in Walton

County Floiida plaintiffs McGuire and Henriksen lcarned ofthe forged quitclaim

deed that purportedly transferred their ownership interest in the property to Kelly

They also learned that the property was encumbered by a new mortgage for

68000000appr aximately 40000O00more than the previous mortgage The

plaintiffs tiled suit against Kelly Voss Continental Casualty Company

Continental Vcss liability insurer Coutrywide Home Loas Ii1c

Countrywide the mcrand lender andLxecutive Title of Einerald Coast

EmerldCoast the mortgage broker allegizgdamages were due as a result of

fraudulent activities ccmversion of their property and negligence by Kelly and

o1i the oriinal second zriortgage pay closin costs and pay the partics acash oui sum cf
approxinately 1S00000 During tle nexl year tlc cash surn was used to pay for monlhly
mortgage payilents on the property for properly inailtcnance for renovations of the hornes
iltei aid for the purchase of a paaty barge This relinancing incresed the indcbteclncss on
thc property to pproxirnately1268OU000 Sornetimc in late 2005 or early 20G the property
was listed for sale with a iestate agent ior the pricc of260000000

TIZC quitclaiila deed was actually datcd May 24 2006 the next day
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Voss Plaintiffs also alleged Kellys actions violated La RS S11401 et seq the

Loiisiana Unfair Trade Practices and Consumer Protection Law LUTPA

Severilmotions for partial summary judment were tiled by the plaintiffs

and defendantsseking rulings as to several issues in the suit The trial court ruled

on these motions and made sevel findings including that 1 the plaintiffs

signatures on the quitclaindeed were forcris2Vss breached his duties as a

notary public by notariring te deed without seeing the plaintiffs sign the

docuinent 3 Voss actios did not constitute fraud 4 Voss was only liable for

his allocable share of fault as to any damages sustained 5 the plaintitfs may not

maintain an action tor damages based upon conversion 6 the fraud exclusion

in Continentals policy dicl not exclude coverage 7 Kellys econventional

demand for damages bsed on deiamation was denieci and S the trial court did

3 The plaintiffs initially lilecisuiiaainsi Kelly in October 2006 seekin tempCraryrestraining
order IRO and prcliainay iiljuction to enjoin Kclly or anyonc acting on his behalf from
sellitlg traisfringexchaningenctmbeior otherwise alieatingthe property A TRU was
immediately issued ad later bascd oa a jointiotioai with Kelly a prelirninlry injunclion was
issucd prollibitiii Kelly trcm sellin translerrinencumbc and alienating the property
without the exrwriLien ccrosent ol McGuire nd Hettriksen until furthcr ordcrs of tllc court
The ihe plaintilIs filed twc aendeci peiitions seekin damaes bascd on several legal
theorics Plaintifts also added the other defeid Plaintiffs allegcd tkeirsignatures oa the
quitclaim deed wereIorerics that merald Coasl was liabic tor tailizlg to verify the signatures
o thc decci that Voss actions constitutcd fraud ard ncgligcnce that Continental was liable s
Voss profcssional Iiability insucc and tkat Couzitrywide was a necessary party Plaintills

alleed their damages resulted from the loss of proceeds frorn lhe potential sale of the property
an additiona enculbrance cn the properiy expenses and ccsts incurred to obtain rclic payrnct
cfdebts associated with apYoperiy lor wllich they are not title owilers and mcntal andenotional
distress Kelly iled an answer denyin lhe allegalions and asserting that his actions were takei
tXndet lais authority as manainartncr had hcretittcd the plaintiffs and ciid nai result in
damaes Kellylurther asseried that if any darnages ar inj ury had occurred any recovery should
b redlccd based on the laintitfis contributot negligence or fault Kelly also irled a
rcconvcntional CCCTlltlCj alleinp111T111fIS public accusation of fraud and othcr i1lealcolduct
coistitted defamalion per se ihll plainti115ihreats tc take criminal or discilinary action
againsi hiYnself and Voss unless monetary payment was rnacle ccnstituted extortion and thit he
was entitled toaawarding compensation and reimbusemeni of expenses paid by him
Voss liled aiaxswer and crossclairn in which hc denied plaintiffs claians arzd alternatively
pleaded tlaat itle was fouald liabfc he should be reimbursed and receive contribution from Kclly
Contirlcntal filed ii answer allegin thii its policy excluded darnaes as a result oi Vcss
Irudu7ent dishonest and znalicious acts Countrywide denied all the allegatians and asserted
thGt based cn the locition of the propei all rihis ltCOI7IITdt1011S U11CjCtI1C 110t3C11USt hC
deierninedin a Ficridajudicilproceediiag
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not have the autkority to adjudicate ownership interests in the Florida property and

declare that plaintiffs each currently owned a 225share of the property

The mattex was tried by the trial court in July 2009 and after receiving post

trial briets the cowt issued written reasons for judgment On November 9 2009

the court signed a written judment in accordance with the written reasons

dismissing te clairrs of plaintiffs against all defendants with prejudice at

plaintilfs cost and dismissing Kellysreconventional demand wit11 prejudice at

his cost

Plaintiffs appealed and sevexal defendants answered the appeal

Additionally Voss tiled his own appeal Plaintiffs allege several assignments of

error including three assignrnents that challenge the trial courts conclusions that

plaintifts failed to prove fraud or constructive fraud and damages that Voss was

not solidariyliable with Ke1ly and that the reasonable measure oi damages was

not the value of the property at the time of Kellys and Voss tortious actions

Kelly also appealed the portion of the judgment denying his reconventional

demardfor reimbusernent tor tnonies he spent related to the property and denyin

his claim that all court costs should have been assessedaainst the plaintiffs

TRIAL COURTSREASONS FOR JUDGMENT

The trial courtswritten reasons noted that the facts are largely undisputed

that Kelly adiitted torin the sigtatures of the plaintiffs on the quitclaim deed

that purpcrtedto transfer the plaintiffs ownership interest in the property to John

Kelly alone and that Voss admitted notarizing the deed without witnessing the

The trial courtsrulinsgranted i part arad denied in part plaintiffis motion for summary
judgment as io ditierent issucs arid dcnied the nlotions for summary tiled by Kelly and
Voss Tlie plliriliJls sought supervisory writs as to that portian of lhe idcnying their
motio Ihis Court denicd thc writ application and declined to exrcisc its supervisory
jurisdictiori See McGuitev KeIC 081681 La Ap lst Cir42809unpublished

5
We are aware that jlydgmenis are appealcd and ot the reasons firjudgment TTowever herein

the sigaeci judgncit spccitically referenced the trial courtswritten reasons and those reasois
cicarlyidicate the caurtslactual ind leg I111C111TS
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signtures or verifyiag the identities of the alleged signers McGuire and

Henriksen The trial court iuther fcund that the day after tlle deed was notarized

Kelly presented it toCountrywide as profof his Full ownership of the property

and based otl that deed obtained a loan from Countrywide that added an

additioilal 41200000in mortage indebtedness on the property

The ttial courtdenied the plaintilfs claims based on fraud In doing so the

trial court specitically staed ttatfraud rnust be established by proof stronger

than 7ere prepondrance of tlle evidence Regarding Kellys actions the trial

coui reasoned that Kelly and Vcss actians were improper and that although

Kellys fozgry on the cuitclaim deed was certainly untruthful there is no

eviderc that he did it to obtairl any unjust advantage ar to inconvenience his

prtner Instead the trial court concluded that thc evidence showed Mr Kelly

inteiaded to hclp the plaintiffs by retinancing the praperty in his own name

however misguided or affrcious those efforts may seem today Despite tinding

that Voss conduct allowed Kelly to refinance th property the court concluded

that Voss did not commit an intentional act oftraud Moreover the court found

that Voss iailurc to follow pzoper notary procedures did not create a bsis for

recovery absent some praaf of actual damages The caurt further rejected the

plaintitts clairns forrcovexy udrILITPA for conversion of immovable

property uncier lorida or1ouisiana law and under the theory that the fored

quitclaim deed was a forced sale of plaintitfs property

E3ased on the finding that a recarded torged deed is a nullity and cannot

actually transfiercwncrship and that plaintiffs had not instituted legal proceedings

it Flor to declare the deed null or to co1 tle publi record the court

conclrded the plaintiffs had not shown any ascertainable damage and had no

basis forrcovery in Louisiana The court notdthe plaintiffs had not suffered any

discernible monetary loss lad not suffered any mental distress and were never
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denied use or enjayment of the property Insteaci the court concluded that

although the actiors oI Kelly and Voss were clearly wrong the plaintiffs had

benefited because at the time of t11e trial the prapertysmarket value had

decreased to about 88600000and t11e plaintis were not obliated to pay the

1b000000 loan and mortgage obtairied by Kelly on the pioperty The court

lcknowledged that the validity of Gountrywidesmortgage was a matter for the

Florida courts butxeasoned that ifit weaeproven that the plaintifis could not

set aside t11e fraudulcntrnortgtge then I would iind that they would be entitled to

receive the rcturn ofiheir down payments

STANDARD OF REVIEW

t is well settled that ai appellate court cannot set aside a trial courts

findings of fact in the absence of inanifest error or unless those findins are clearly

wrong In order to reverse a trieroffactsdetermination of fact an appellate court

must review the record in its entirety conclude that a reasonable factual basis does

not exist 1or the finding and fuither detetmine that the record establishes tllat the

trierotiact is clearly wrong or manifestly erroneous HuCsey v Sears Rnehuck cc

Co 962704 La pp 1 st Cryir 122997 705 So2d 1173 117677 If there is no

reasonablc factual basis in tlle record for the trieraffactsfindin no additional

inquiry is necessary to caticlude there was manifest error SmegaC v Getrys 10

0648 La 11pp 1 st Cii 102910 48 So3d 43 435 If the trial courts findings

are reasonable in light of thexecord reviewed in its entirety an appellate court may

not reverse thos findings even though convinced that had it been sittin as the

trieY o fiact it would have weighd the evidence diffcrcntly Boyd v Boyd 10

13G9Ia App l st Cir 211 1 57 So3d l 169 1 174

When findings are based on determinations regarding the credibility of

witnesses the manifst errorclearly wron standard demands great deference to

thetrtindinsHowever an appellate court may find manifest error or
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clear wrongnes5 in a finding purportedly based upon aci determination

where docuents orchjective eviderice so contradict the witness story or the

story itselfisso internally irlcoiisistent o implausible on its face that a reasonable

trieroffact would notcedit the witness story Hulsey 705 So2d at l 177

With regard to questions of law appellate review is sirnply a review of

whether the trilcaurt was legally ccrrect or leally incorrect Onlgal issues the

appellate court ivs no special weight ta the findings of the trial court but

exercises its constitutional duty to review questions of law and render judgrnent on

tae record A legal error occurs wheil a trial caurt applies incorrect principlsof

law and such errors are prejudicial Legal errors are prejudicial when they

materially affect the outcoeand deprive a party of substantial rights Vlihen such

a prejudicial crror of law skews the trial courtsfinding as to issues of material

fact tle appellate court is required if it can to render judgrnent on the record by

applying the correct law and detrmining the essential matrial facts de novo lf

only one of the factual tindings is tainted by the application of incorrect principles

cf law that are prejudicial the appellate courts de novo review is limited to the

finding so affected Bnyrl 57 So3d at l 174

In this case the trial court cominitted leal error when it concluded fraud

must be establisledby proof strorger than a mere preponderance of the evidence

the wrong standard of proof The proper standard of proving fraud is by a

preponderance o the evidetce and fraud may be established by circuinstantial

cvidence Sce Ia CC art 1957 ODEC iC Gas Company v Nuncz 532

So2d 453 457 n3 La Ap 1 st Cir 198writ cleniel535 So2d 745 La

1989 Herein te application of the erroneous legal standard for fraud was

Prrot to Jaruary 1 1985 the jurisprdence held that iraud had to be provei7 by clear and
ccnviriciz or storig and clear evideYice See Marceov Bussiere 284 5o2d 892 894 Ia

I y73 Hrvver n MidSnutzFxplorrtioiCnnzPany Izc 479 So2d 551 555 La App lst Cir
1985 By ct 331 of 1984 e1lective January l 1985 la C art 1S7 was enacted and
changed thstndard of proof Ior frad to a prepondernceoi the evidencc According to Article
1957 Corntletib the article does nrtallow the prior iritcrpretation



rejudicial and skewed the tria courts numeroisfindings as ta issues of essential

rnatcrial fact including credibility intent and the existeiice of dai7iaesIhus we

will conduct a ce novorvicw of the record before us to determine the correctness

of the judgment as to the numerous rulings by the trial court

LIABILITY OF KELLY AND VOSS

ilndei La CG art 2315 a person may recover damages for injuries caused

by a wrongful ct of another Fvexy act whatever of man that causes damaeto

another oblies him by whose fault ithppened to repair it La CC art 2315A

See Restatement Third of Toits Liability for Physical and Emotional Harm

Restatement Second of Torts

Iiability may be the result of ditferent theories of tort including intentional

wronsand neligence One type of intentional tort is based on firaudulent acts

Fraud is a misrcpresentation or a suppression of th truth made with te intention

eitler to obtain an unjust advantage for oxe party or to cause a loss ar

inconvenience to the other Fraud may also result from silence or inaction See

La CCart 1953 Fraud cannot bc predicated on xnistake oz negligence no matter

how goss Fraudulent intent which canstitutes the intent to deceive is a

necessary element of fraud Wlzitehead v Americarr Coachworks Inc 020027
I

La npp 1 st Cir 122002 37 So2d G78 b82 Circumstantial evidence

inclliding hihly su5picious tacts and circumstances surrunding a transaction inay

be considered in determining whether fraud has been ccmmitted Terrebonne

Altliouhthc Rcstatcmentis not bindin onIotrisiana courts ihe resti and uidelincs
esiablished tlierein 1or policy reasons do provide uidance to our courts in the adjudication of
these claims 5ce Nicholcrs u AlCrtrte asurance Company 992522 La83100 765 So2d
101 7 1021 n In the IZestatenent oflorts the word tortious is used to deiote the Iact thal

ccnduct wltether o lct orolissicm is oi such a chai as to sukjcct thc actor to liabilityuider
the priiciples olthe lawoitorts Tle word toticusi5 appropriatc to dcscribc not only an act
which is intenc3ed to caiise ai invasion ot n interest legally proiected aainst intcntional
invasion or canduct that is neglignt as creating an unreasonable risk I invsion ofi sucll aia
inielesi bLrt also colduct tliai is carried on t the risk thai the actor shall be suljcct to liability toz
Iarn causcd theeby altlough tio sucla Iartn is ititended and lhe hartn cannot be prevented by
any precautions oi care that it is practicable to requirc Sec RestatenetSecond ol Taris 6
Conarenta
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Concete LLC v GEC Enterprises LLC 1 10072 La App 1 st Cir 8 1711

So3 d writ cteniecC 112021 La 1 1 1811 So3 d Sun Drilling

Prorlucts Corpnrntion v Rayboryi 00 l 884 La App 4th Cir 103O1 798 Sa2d

1 141 1153 writ cienred 012939 L12502 807 So2d 840 Wrllinmson v

Haynes Best Westerrr of ACexandria 951725 La App 4th Cir l2997 b8

So2d 1201 1239 writ dertie 97114S La62097 695 So2d 1355

lnBuneCc v BrumrelC477 So2d 1161 La App 1 st Cir writ denied

479 So2d 922 La 1985 the wife sued her husband an attorney to have their

marriagc contract declared null and void on the basis of fraud and improper 1orm

Ihe jury rendered judgment in iavor of the wife and the husband appealed on

several rounds includin tlat the jurysfinding of fraud was contrary tc the law

and evidence This Court concluded the jurys evaluations of credibility were

reasonable t11at thee was sufficient evidence to conclusivcly prove fraud and

aftirmed tle jurysverdict In BrumfieCc this Court stated

A chaige oiraud is most serious and grave Although
Article 1847 is iound in that portion of the Civil Code dealing with
nullity of cantracts resulting from defects ofconsent including error
it is clear that to constitute fi the error must be caused by
fraudulent misrepresenttianSustan v McKendrick fi4 So2d 44
223 La b2 La 1953 Broussard v Fidelity Standard Life

Insurance Co 146 So2d 292 La App 3d Cir 19b2

Brumfield 477 So2d at l 1 E7G footnote added

When discussitgthe necessary roof for fraud in the Brumfielcf case this

Court reasoned as follows

The tapestry ol deception assuming again that it can be
believeci proves fi beyond any doubt and beyond the requirements
of law 1111 doubts arezemoved and all lea standards of proof are
net wln a party asserts the triuinph of his awn duplicity 1he
question before us thera is zot only a matter of law and evidence but
cfbelievability

By its very tature fraud has as many different styles and
disguises as thos who engage in it Some kinds af traud are more

The defiriition of fraud is iiow in La CCart 1953
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easily praved than others In the case of commercial or industrial
frud lar instance a team o1 auditors can often go in and exairiine
books recoids and invettoris and in a tew hours produce tangible
proof of deception it is much different in the case of intimate fraud

between lovers Llsually no one is present except the two parties and
records are quite ofterl not kept Yet thcre is no doctrine thatitimate
iraud cannot be successfitlly prcved

Brumfield 477 So2d at 116

In tle instant casc tlze trial couzt cancluded Kellys forgery did nt

constitute fraud because there was ao cvidnce of Kellys intent to gain an unjust

advant or catas an inconvenieilce Instead the court found that Kelly intended

to help the plaintiffs by refinancing the property in his name Kelly maintains that

his sole intent in the forgery and retinancing was to help the plaintifisby removing

theiri ram iae propertysmortgage obligation aYd to continue thir relationship

However Kellysown testimony1eveals he secretly planned far montlsto becom

the propertyssole recod ownrand to accomplisl his desire to retinance the

property A few months before forging the quitclaim deed Kelly asked the

plaintitfs to agree to retinance the property but they resisted his suggestion

Nevertheless Kelly ignared their decision and secretly began a series of actions

rcgarding the property On March 18 200b over two months before Kelly forged

plaintififs Signature5 on the quitclaim deed he represented himself as the

propertyssole owner and applied Ior a loan to refinance the property with a

Florida mortgage broker At the time of that application Kelly signed a disclosure

1QtGG stating the property was his secondary residence and was not investment

property However Klly and the parties consistently testified that the property

had been purchased as an investment In fact at the time of Kellys laan

application the property was listed with a real estate agent

Othcr evidence reveals Iielly had a selfserving mctive that was unrelated ta

any desire to help tle plaintiffs Kelly admitted that he was the inajority owner in

many business entities th3t he had different bank accounts for these businesses
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and ththe moved money among ihese accounts Kelly furthe admitted that at te

May 2006 refrnancin he cceived acash out sum of about 36200000 after

payment of costs that he hd used this money as he saw ft for his owrt personal

and business needs and that most of the cash sum wasredistributed back to th

original accourlts at some point in time

I record further shows that durin ais 2008 pretrial deposition Kelly was

asked about all lawsuits against him or his businesses he stated he had won every

lawsuit When questioned at trial Kelly admitted he forgot to mention a Texas

lawsuit aainst one of 11is businesses Maverick Real Estate Investments

Maverick At a trial in April 2006 a jury verdict was rendered against Kelly

and Maverick iz the amount of 24900000 plus interest and 2200000 in

attorney fees Kelly acknowleded that in order to avoid having a judgment

fornally entered against him he persotaally and on behalf ofi Mavez executed a

promissory note on May l 2006 to pay the plaintiff a sun of29966697 Kelly

deiied tlzat this lawsuit and potential judgment was related to his desire to

refinance the property but again stated he had deposited the cash out sum in his

different bank accounts and that he used it for whatever purposes l1e thought

were appropriate

Kellys testimony about te various bank accaunts his deposit of the cash

out sum and the bazk account used to pay off the promissory not is confusing

A bank statement from one of the Maverick accounts indicates a check was written

for the exact ainount of the promissory note and cleared that account in July 200G

At tist Kclly denied that this check was used to ay otf the promissory note but

when questioned by the trial court Kelly admitted he must have transferred money

into the Maverick acccunt tc7 y the ronaisso note Although Kelly testitied he

n copy al tlie actaal check apparently could ot be locaied or was not disclosed by Kelly
during discovery
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did not kxiow where he ohtained ihttnoney h admitted monies wece coming in

and out all the time and tllat he was the only person who controlled the

checkbook Even thouhKelly would not admit that the cash out sum from the

rtinancing was used to pay te promissoynote his testimony the documentary

evidence and tihe datcs of certain pertinent everts reasonably support a findin that

this suln was used for paynent of that debt

In conjunction with the refinancing new loan and tnortgage Kelly executed

maiay documcnts Kelly denied preparing signing oi instructin anyone else to

ptepae and sin his narlle to soine af the loan documents introduced at trial

Ncvertheless Kelly testii that the contntof the majority of these documents

was accurate Iehyothesized that because loan guidelines needed to be met the

mortgacbrker obtained the appropriate information trom him prepared th

documents or lcttrsand signed Ke11ys tlame to the documents

I of the dacLUnents purportedly signed by Kelly were written in May

2006 shortly bel the loan closing One Ictter was in response to a recuest far

information rearding the properys listing for sale The letter explained that

Kelly laadiitially listed the bay front home for sale when 11e planned to use

anotherpas his Florida residence but when tllat other property was leased

Itelly taok the bay front home and propeity off the market The statements in this

letter conflict with the testimony of I3obbie Fenn a f lorida real estate aent who

said the1operty was listed tor sale during this entire time period

T17c scond letter was an explanation about the obvious conflict between the

public record indicating thep1opertys ownership by Kelly and the plaintiffs and

Kellys assertion in his loan application that hc was the olc owner The letter

statedThis is property that 1 owr with 2 other people and i arn refinancing this

rr in r rto h ve his ro ert im m atne onl Aftrhis tr n ic e t c de a t c ta sacp p Y P P Y Y Y

will he the only person on the title Although the letter stated it was written in
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respon5e to tlae question of why Kelly was requestinacash out refinance ofi the

property it Cailed to contain anexlanation

To support his claim of a benevolent inten and desirc to hclp the plaintiffs

Kelly asserted that after the lirst year of ownership hecffered to pay the plaintiffs

portion of the mortgage and expense paymeils Kelly testificd that when the

property was first purchased the plaintiffs made it clear to him that they could not

continue to make payi7lents on tkie property for a long period of time Kelly

testified MeCuire said he could only pay the mortgage note and expenses for about

a yeat Kelly claimed that atte this tirst year he paid MeGuiresportian of the

mrtgage note fo several months and that McGuizewas upset because the amount

of the debt obligation on the property prohibited him from obtaining a loan to build

a home in Batozl Roue Kelly also teslitied thatHnriksen struggled to make his

portion of the payments Kelly did acknowledg that as a coowner he had legal

remedies suc as partition of the propeY if he did nat agree with the coowners

and wanted sole owrcrship of the property See Fla Stat 64011 Et seq

Iplaintiffs testimony reflected a differettversion of their financial

ability to pay the property mortgag and expenses Accordin to McGuire each

of th nen contributed equally durin tke irst year to a bank account used to pay

the propertysepenssThe first retinancing ofthe secand mortgage withacash

out sum to pay expenses was solely Kellys idea McCuire denied that he had

troublecoitriluting his pation fi the mortaepayment that he complained about

tkae financial burdnor that he asked Kelly to make his payments In fact after thc

first relinancing McGuire continued to contribute his portion of expenses and

handled the payment of the propertysutility bills froin a designated checkin

accomt despite Kellysareement to take on that duty

Ietiriksen corroborated McGuires testimony and testitied that both he and

McGuire tnade tei contributions to the property expenses and mortgage
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payments He denied telling Itelly that he was 5truggling to rnake the payments

e also nctcd that the fiastrfinancing af the second mortgage with acash out

sum to pay the mortgage note was a result ofKellyssuggestion Henriksen denied

that Kelly had infoi plaintiffs in 2006 that this cash out amount was almost

depleted and that they would need to begin contributing money for the mortgage

payments and praperty inaintcnance In addition Hnriksen denied receiving

voicemail messaes frorn Kelly statin he was planning on rcfnancing the

property in his own name and that he neded the plaintiffs signatures on a

quitclaindeed to do so

Both McGuire and Henriksen testified about Ixieetings with Kelly in 2006

before and after the torgery McGuireaecalled only one itleeting in early 2006 at

Champs Restaurant to discuss renovations to the property McGuire denied any

discussions at tloseineetins about his iiability to cantribute to the monthly

motgagpayents

Henriksen reclled more than one rYeetin but denied that either he or

McGuire indicated their inability to contribute their portion of the payments due on

thc property At another meeting at Champs Restaurant that occurred sometime

betwee June and August of 2006 McGuire told Kelly about a potential purchaser

for the property but Kelly rejected the verbal offer of appraximately twa million

dollars as bein too low However a few weeks later Kelly indicated he was

interested in the offrbut he insisted the sale must be closed within thirty days and

befoie Ke11ys attorney McGuire respoaided that the potential purchaser was no

longrinterested in the propertyIenriksen also testitied that during this last

meeting he and MeCiuire became suspicious when Kelly produced a handwritten

paper that reflected the propertys mortgage irdebtedness was168000000

When tlae plaintifls questioned this tigure Kelly scratched out the amaunt and put

awiy the sheet Subsequetly Henriksen researched the lorida country public
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records and discovered the forged deed the new mortgage and the increased

indebtedness tl tleproperty

The trial testimony further revealed thati durin the first year of ownership

Kelly suggested to the plaintiffs that they execute a buysell agreement that would

require each of the owners ta flrst offr their share to the other owners before

seekin an outsid buyer Ihe proposed agreement also provided that the sellin

owne wouldieceive triple thanount of money he coxtibuted to the down

payment regardless of th value of or the equity in the property at the time of the

sale Kelly testified that heithe plaintiffs sign this buysellareement at

least ten times and despite his ccntinued requests the plaintiffs refused Kelly

was perplexed as to why the plaintiifs would not enter into the agreement and

stated th only reason for their refusal when the market was doing well was pure

reed

Althaugh Kelly testified that this buysell agrement would have benetited

all t11e patties the evidence indicates Kelly believed he was the only owner who

was i1 a financial position to buy out the plaintitfs If Kelly had purchased the

ownership interest of otle or both plaintiffs he would have acquired over 60

ownership in the property and based on the operating agreement he would 11ave

been able to control many decisions ircludin whether to mortgage the proprty

In addition if Kelly purchased the plaintifts share and sold the property before

the market value decreased his prcfit would have been considerably greater than

if a sale was aade with thccoowners

Ielly admitted fiorging the plaintiffs signatures on the quitclaim deed and

deceiving Voss by telling him the plaintiffs had sined the deed Kelly knew he

would iot have been able to closc the refinancing deal the next day and receive the

cash cut sum of about 40000000 without beilg recognized as the sole owner

of the property The executed and notarized quitclaim deed transferring the
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plaintiffs owrershipiterest to hin was required for Kelly to accomplish his plan

The parties disputed the issue of whether Kelly attempted to inform them of the

refnancin but Kelly admittcd he did not make any attempt to tell thc plaintiffs

until a few days before the loax closing The plaintiffs were neither informed of

nor sent docxnts about the loa7 ard mortag revealing that Kelly had

refinanced the property solely in llis natne Kellys secrecy and his actions are

circumstairtial evidence of his intent to gain an unjust advantac for himself and to

cause the plaintifis to lose tkirright5 as owners

Atter conductiga ce rrvn review of the evidence including Kellysown

tstinony and applyin the correct burden ofproof we conclude there is suffrcient

evidence to conclude Ifelly committed fraud and misrepresented the truth to

plaintiffs the notary the mortgage broker and the mortagee The record reveals

many facts that iidicate a tapestry of deception by Kelly and show that his

raudulnt acts began before and contiraued alter his forgery of the plaintiffs

signatures on the quitclimdeed

n obvious and reasorable conclusion from the evidence is that Kellys

deception was intended to obtain an unjust advantagc for himself to act as the

piopertys sole owner without regard to the plaintiffs ownership rights When

Kclly made himself the sole public record owner of the property he obtained an

unjust advantage with respect to the property visavis third parties At the same

tim Kelly intended for plaintitfsto lose their status and rights ascoowners ofthe

praplon the public record

10
ilnlike the irial courl we do not address ihe issues of whether the fred quitclaim deed and

moriie are nullities under Florida law and whether they legally transfe the plaintiffs
ownership ii the property We agree with Countrywide that the issues of the legal cffcct of the
quitclairn dced and the validity of the mortgage are canirolled by Florida law and only Flocida
courts hivejurisdiclion over those issues
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The trial court further concluded that plaintiffs had no basis for recovery

undr eitherTUTPA or under theories of conversion and forced sale We agree

that the plaintiffsfailed to present sufticient evidence to prove these claims

Plaatiffs also allege Voss is liable for actions on the basis af fraud andor

negligence Te trial court colcluded Voss conduct was inappropriate clearly

wrong outrageous and enabled the refinancing ot the pwithout the

plaintiffs consent but he did not commit an intentional act of fraud

Florid law like Louisiana law provides that a document conveying

trnsferring or rnortaing real property or of any interest therein shall nat be

e1fectual against creditors a suhsequent purchasers unless the document is

recorded See Fla Stat 695011 See also La CC arts 1839 2021 2035

3338 No docuzcnt conveying title or interest in real property shall be recorded by

a clerk af court unless it contains certain items including the signature and name

of the notary public or other afiicer authorized to take acknowledgments See Fla

Stat 695261d A notary public outside the State ot Florida may legalize or

authenticate the document See Fla Stat 695032 See also La RS

352A2 La C C art 1833

The purpose of aLithentic act requirements is to insure tle validity of a

signature on a document and that the person whose name appears therean is the

person who actually signed thc document the notary and witnesses attest to seeing

tle pai sign the document Zanzjahn vZrmjahh 0271 La App Sth Cir

1203 39 So2d 309 31 5 wrtcenied 030574 La42503842 So2d 410

In the case of Howcott v Talen 133 La 845 63 So 376 La 1913 the

Supreme Court otIouisiana summarized the responsibility of a notary with regard

to identification of persctsappearing before him in th following lanuage

In fact sa lcri a5 he the nctary exercises the precaution of an
ordinarily prudent business man in certifying to the identity of the
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persons whc appear before hii it may be doubted wlether he has any
otiet sic function to discharge

Howcott 133 La at 852 63 So at 379

A notryis liable bath tordliberate misfeasance in the course of his official

duties and for negligence in performing those duties Colins v Collins 629 So2d

127 1276 La App Sth Cir 1993 writ deniecl y40422 La4494 635 So2d

1 1 10 In ColCins the exhu5band filed suit in Louisiana against his exwife and

notary public foi the fraudulent sale of iminovable property in Flarida The suit

alleged the exwife went to the notarysoffice with a man purportin to be her ex

husband and that man forged the exhusbandsname to an act of sale conveying

the property to a purchaser Plaintiff further alleged that the notary violated his

notarial obligations by notarizing the act of sale when he knew or should have

known that the person signing was not in tact the plaintii andor the notary should

lave recuested identitication from that person signing as theexhusbardThe trial

court granted the defendants XCptlOT15 Ot na right or cause faction Plaintiff

ppealed and the iftk Ciicuit concluded that a notary is liable both for deliberate

misfeasance in the course of his ofiicial duties and for negligence in performing

those duties CnCCins 629 So2d at 121G

In additicnto the holding iz ColCins notaries have been found liable to

persons wlolave been defirauded ofi their money as a copsecuence of their reliance

upon the genuineness ot any document executdby a notary public See Summers

BotliersIc v Brewer 42 Sc2d 197 204 La App 1 st Cir 192 Uther

courts have held t11at a notlrys inisrepresentation silence inaction or suppression

of the truth itcluding that the notarized documents were forged constitutes

MorcovrIor a plaintili lo recover for a negligentirisrepresentatio there nust be a leal duty
on the part ot thc defcndant to supply correct intorination a breach of that duty and damaeto
the plaintill caised by lhe breach Fechtncrv Bice 062U77 Ia App l st Cir b807 9G4
So2d 1SS 1O58 WLCLi1lC071287 La92107 9C4 5o2d 345 Oshnrne u Ladner 96
0863 1a Apka 1st Cir21497j fi91 So2d 1215 1257 See also Whh u Pianeer Bank

Trust Cnmpany 530 So2d 115 11819L App 2d Cir 1988
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fiaud See Lacour v NatinnnCSuretCn fNew Ynrk 147 La 586 592 85 So

600 b02 La 1920 Roclzeweau v Joraes 29 La Ann f32 1877

In Sunmers Brothers the plaintiffs sued several dendants includin a

notary for fraud related to a contract for the leasing of equipment Une af the

defendants Brewer was an tcquaintance of thc plaintiffs and approached them

about a business opportunity Brewrpurportedly negotiated a cantract for

plaintiffs with a nonexistent company E3ased on this contract the plaintifs

incurred xpenses for the purcllase and leasing o1 equipment Brewer also sold

plaintiffs stock in the sham company aild they paid him for expenses and the

stock lhe plaintiffsaccepted thc ccntract as genuine and authentic because it was

notarized When the plaintifts discovered the contract was a forery they sued

Brewer and others including the notary In rendering judgment in plaintifts favor

the trial colrrt concluded that some af the signatures on the contract were forgeries

and that the notary public had nctfallowed the law by notariing tkae contract after

the parties to the cantract had signed Summers Brothers 420 So2d at 201

Te notary and other defendants appealed the trial caurts judgment

regarding their liability the award ot damages and the finding that they were

liable in solicao In addressing the issue of the notarys liability this Court relied

on theSpreme Courts opinion in Rouchereau which concluded that the notarys

paraph of promissory notes was a cieception and fraud because the notary knew

that the purported identification of the notes with a mortgage was a fraud In

We acknowled c tiat Ia CryCry art 1953 rc uires that a fraudulent misre resenttionor al P

suression of thc truth be rnade with the iitent eithe to cbtain an unjust advantagc for oc party
or to cause a IosS cr inconvenience to the oiher Mcreover the fraud cannot be predicated on
istake or neligence ro matter how ross and the fraudulent intent that constitutcs the intent
to dccive is a ilGCessary element crt fraud See Whitetead v AmericaiCnachworks Inc 02
0027 La App 1 st Cir 122002 837 So2d 678 682 Although Articic 1953 was enacted by
llcts 1984 No 331 1 e7ective January l 1985 the revision cornmcnt a notes tllat Article
1S dict rotclaaigc thc law azld restated the detiniiian of lraud contained infrmer La Cact
1847 elacted ii 1870 Thus the sane delinition of traud cxistcd at the tinae tllese cases were
decidec
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Suxnnzers Brotzers tis Court concluddthe notarys actians were the same in

substance as in Roucliepenu This Court stated

Lven if the notary did not know that the signatures an the contract
were forgeries hc kncw that by authenticating the document as
notay he was telling the world that the parties had appeared before
him and affixed their signatures in his presence Thus he committed
traud in that 17e purposely let third parties rely on a document
purporting to bc genuine but actually without validity as an authentic
act The proof of validity he supplied was inisleading to all who
rlicd on the contact

SummcsBrothers 420 So2d at 204

In affiri7iin the trial courts judgment in favor of the Summers brothers this

Court also coracluded that a review of the evidence amply supported the trial

courts findings and rejected the notarys contention that his notarial acts were not

a proximate cause of the plaintiffs financial losses or tkat he was nct guilty of

constructive fraud as sugestcd by the trial court Summers Brothers 420

So2d at 204

In the itlstant case the quitclimdeed form which was sent to Kelly from

thE mortage broker required signatures of the parties and two witnesses and a

signed acknowledgment by aotary public Voss a notary signed the

acknawledgment clause indicating that tle plaintiffs personally appeared before

him and acknowlededtheir signatures on the quitclaim deeci That clause states

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this 24 day
o Nlay 2006 by John J Kelly and Thomas L McGuire III and Eric
U Henrikson who are personally known to me or have produced a
drivers license as idettiiication

Regatdless of whether Voss was awareotKellysscheme and his orgery of

the plaintiffs signatures Voss kraew that his acknowledgment was false During

the trial Voss admitted that he did not actually see plaintiffs sign the deed

Furthermore Voss lcnew that the plaintiffs did nat appea befare him and

acknowledge theirsinatures on the deed nor did he require that they do so hus

by executin the acknowledgement clause V055 intentionally misrepresentdthe
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circumstances surraunding the quitclaim deed Fraud can result from a partys

misiepresentations silezlce or inaction See La CC art 1953 Althoirgh Voss

testitied that hc never mcant to deceive the plaintiffs he admitted that Kelly told

hiY a notariddGd was required in order for Kelly to become the propertyssale

owncr and accoanplish the retinancing With this knowledge Voss acted in

cozlcert with Kelly toco7plete the acknowledgement clause in the deed that bath

men knew to be false 3y executin the quitclairn deed and sining the

acknowledgment clause Voss actions were a dliberatetnisrepresentation and

violatdIis duties as a notary public in the course of his official notarial duties

Based on oui review of the cvidence and the jurisprudence we conclude Voss is

lible beause his intentional misrepresentations and failure to require plaintiFts to

acknowledethe quitclaim deed in is presercecaused harm to the plaintifs

SOLIDARY LIABILITY

Louisiana Civil Gode article 2324 provides in pertinent part that

A H who conspires with nother person to commit an intentional or
willful act is answcrable in solido with that person for the
damage caused by suchact

Q If liahility is not solidary pursuant to Paragraph A then liability
for damges caused by two or more persons shall be a joint and
divisille obligation A joint tortfeasar shall not be liable for tnore
than his degree of fault and shall not be solidarily liable with any
othe perso for damages attributable to the fault of such other
person incliding the person suffering injury death ox loss
rcardless of such other personsinsolvency ability to pay deree
of fault immunity hy statute or atherwise including but not
limited to iminunity as rcvided in RS 231032 or that the other
persons identity is not known o reasonably ascertainable

In 1996 Article 2324 was revised to provide that joint tortfeasors are no

loner liable in solido and are liable only for the proportion of fault allocated to

them Iowever solidary liability exists between intentianal or willful joint

tortfeasors See Toucharlv Willrams fi 17 So2d 885 891 La 1993 superseded

on nther grnuncsbystxtute tJndei Article 23341evidence of a conspiracy can
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be actual knowledge o both parties ar overt actions with another or can be

infeired from the knowlcdge of th alledcoconspirator of the impropriEty of the

actians taket by tlle othercoconspirator Bnuclreaux v Jeff 031932 La App

1st Cir 91704 884 So2d G65 672 Stephens v BarlEforcement nf

Loursiancr 960809 La App l st Cir21497 b90 So2d 124 13 l writ denied

97OS85 La41897Ei9 So2d 154

Because the trial court concluded the plaintifis had rat proved damages it

tnade no ruling as to whether the defendants were solidarily or jointly liable

Plaintiffs argue that under SumnzrsBrothers th notarysconstructive fraud

was purposeful or willful and thus Kelly and Voss are liable in snlido They

furtlzer arue that despite thc languaeofArticle 2324 an actual conspiracy is not

required because as intentional torteasors Kelly and Voss arc iable in solido

Kelly responds that the issue o solidary liability is irrelevant because

plaintiffs failed to prove any damages Kelly further arues he is not liable in

solidn with Voss under Article 2324Abecause the plaintiffs claims are based on

negligence Voss argues he is not a willful tortfieasor within the meanin of Article

2324Aand that ahsectproof of a conspiracy with Kclly he is nat liable in solidn

We note thtSummers Brothers rejected the plaintiffs claim that the notary

was liable in SUIIGIC with thecriginator f the fraud under Article 2324 In

SummesBrnthers 420 So2d at 204 this Court found as did the trial court that

Article 2324 had no applicatioii to the case because the defendants acts were

independent frotn the fraudulent scheme that was already set in motion before the

notary participated in th fraud Furthermcretfle opinion concluded that some of

the damages caused to plaintiffs by the notary were the result of his particular

wrongdoing and fault and were rot tle natural and foreseeibleconsequnces of the

origina schetners earlier fraudulcnt acts 13ased on these reasons this Court

concluded all the deterdants in that case wet pot liable rn solico
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The case before us is distinguisableand presents diffrntfacts from those

in Summers Brnthers relatin to the issuc of solidary liability Here the plaintiffs

wreharned by the combined acts of both Kelly and Voss The plaintiffs loss of

rights ot ownership as reflected by the lorida county public records and the

tinancing by Kelly resulted fi the concerted intentional and illegal actions

and di5cussians between Kelly and Voss to camplete the fals acknowledgement i

the quitclaim deed tat enabled Kelly to refinance the praperty The forgeries

withutVoss and Kellysactions in bringing about the illegal notarization would

not have been sufficient to cause harm ta the plaintiffs Kelly requested that

Voss execute an acknowledgement clause that they both knew to be false

Neverthele5s Voss complied with Kellys request to notarize the

acknowledgement clause The fact that Kelly and Voss each acted with full

krowledge of the impropriety of executitgthe false ackncwledgement is evidence

of conspiracy as required by Article 2324A Thus Kelly and Vass are liable ih

solido for the harm caused by their combined actions

LIABILITY OF CONTINENTAL

Continental Voss professional liability insurer filed an answer to the

appeal in which it arues that the trial courtsfindings conclusions and dismissal

o all the claims asserted by the plaintiffs were correct and urges this Gourt to

afirXn the trial colrrtsjudgment Continental adopts the legal arguments in Voss

brief but presents additional argument in the event this Court reverses the trial

courtsjudgment and finds that Voss cammitted fraud and the plaintiffs are entitled

to damaes based on mental axguish Continental argues that although the

professional liability policy issued to Voss providcs coverage for his notarial duties

and acts the oliGy provisions cxclude coverage bascd on fraud and for mental

in his prctrial deposition testiiroriy Scott Zimav Countrywides corporate representative
slated that Kcllys loan for1C8000000woutd not have been approvea wiChout the notarys
sigiatu or seal on thc quitclaint deed
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anguish dalnaes Moreovex they argue that such damages are not recaverable in

legal malpiacticc suit because the foreseeable result of the negligent actions ony

extends to an cccnomic Loss

Continentalspolicy includes a provision excludin coverage for any claim

based on or arisin out of any dishonest fraudulent criminal or malicious act or

omission by an Insuaed Ihe clear anguage of this provision excludes

covei for acts that are dishonest Voss actions were a deliberate

misrepresetatation and tllus were dishonest Accordingly we conclude that

Continentalspolicy does nat provide coveraeto and indemnify Voss for damages

awardedaainst him iz this proceeding

KELLYSRFCUNVENTIONAL DEMAND
AND CLAIM FOR COSTS

Kelly conteids that the trial court erted in denying his reconventional

demand against the plaintiffs tor reimbursement of payments he made related to

the property Kelly agues that becnuse the plaintiffs still own the property they

owe him for payment of their portion of the current mortgage on the property and

for other experlses Moreover he claims that the plaintiffs wer unjustly enriched

by his payoff of their obligation under the prior indebtedness and first and second

mortgaesat the time Ie reinanced the property in kis name regardless of haw he

obtaindthe money to pay aff that obligation

The plaintiffs filed suit seeking recovery for the damages caused by Kelly

and Voss actiuns which slandered thcir title to the property and effectively

resulted in an unlawful taking of their property Kellysclaim or reimbursement

assumes the plaintiffs remait owners of the property which is an issue that must

be addt by the Florida courts Therefore Kellysxdemand for

reinburseinent is denied
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Kelly also argues that thc trial court erred in failing to award him court costs

because h was the prevailin party ln light of our finding that Kelly is liable

wc tind this argument lacks merit

ALLOCATIUN OF FAULT

Louisiana Givil Code article 2323A provides that in any action for

damages thedree or percentage of tault ot all persons causitlg or contributing

to the injury death or loss sllall be determined Subsection B provides that

the allocatian of fault slall apply to any claim for recovery of damages

asserted under any law or legal doctrine ar tlleory of liability regardless ot the

basis of liability

Because we have concluded that the combined actions of both Kelly and

Voss caused harn to the plaintiffs we find that Kelly and Voss are each equally

and totally t fault

CONTRIBUTION

Voss iled a crossclaiin agairtst Kelly seeking indemnification and

contribution in the event that he was found to be liable and damages were awarded

gainst hirn Tle tz court did not rule on this crossclaim apparently because of

its tindin that there were no damages Pursuant to La CC arts 18U4 and 1805

Kelly and Voss as solidary obliors are each liable for their awn virile portion

the fault allocated to each solidary obligor Voss is not entitled to contribution

from Kelly ifand when that claim arises because Voss is wholly at fault

DAMAGES

Plaintitfs argue that they are entitled to damages based on the value af the

poperty as of May 24 20U6 Plaintiffs note that as a result of the refinancing by

Kelly the property now bears an additional encumbi and indebtdness in the

amount of41200000 Although plaintitfs admitted that the decline in real estate

values resulted in a mortgage greater than the propertysvalue at the time of trial
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theyithat cn the date of refiinancing the equity in the property was at a

minimum 133200040 based on Countrywides appraisal of2b0400000

minus the mortgage af126800000nd that their combined interest in the

equity was at a minimum 6660000050 of 133200000 Plaintiffs further

claim additional danages based an tlleir inconvenience loss of use and enjoyznent

of thc property and their emotional distress in the amount of75OOOQOeach

Kelly contends that plaintiffs have not proven any damages with reasonable

certainty that normal inconveniences or frustration are iaot compensable and that

to recover for the intentional inflictioi of emotional distress the plaintiffs must

prove his conduct was outrageous At trial the defendants arued that tle

plaintiffs had nat suffe any damages because the forgcd quitclaim deed was a

nullity and did not actually transter the plaintiffs ownership Moreover they l

contend that the plaintiffs actually beneited from Kellys actioras that resulted in a

payoff of the loan and mortgages that plaintiffs were obligated to pay

The trial court agreed that tle forged quitclaim deed was a nullity and

because it did not actually divest plaintiffs of their ownership interest in the

property thcy did rtot suffer any ascertainable damage The court asscrted that

the only dairiages plaintiffs could claim were related to the incrtvenience of

correcting the Florida county public record but because plaintiffs had not Fled any

such legal proceeding they were riot entitled to damages Iad they proved the

fraudulent mortgage could not be set aside the trial court indicated the plaintiffs

would have been entitled to thc return of their down paymcnts Mareover the trial

court fouzd plaintiffs did not suffer any mental distress because they were nat

dexied the use or enjoyment of theiar property by Kelly Rather the plaintiffs

voluntalily refused to use the property and their refusal even if understandable

on a purely emotional level was not compersable as mental anguish
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Ihe defendants arguments and the trial cotrtSreasoning defy the reality of

the sitution As noted earlicr the issues of nullity of the quitclaim deed and

ownership of tle property must be decided in Florida court The tria courts

reasonin that the plaitltiffs 11ad to attenpt to restoreteir rights to the property in

Florida in order for damages to be assessed in this suit essentially means that

plaintifts had the obligation to repair their harm which was caused by Kelly and

Voss Further we are aware of Kellystestirnony that he was willing to cooperate

in restoring pJaittiffs to their prior position However it was impossible ta do so

because the recordation of the quitclaim deed and the mortgage in the lorida

courty public records created an equitable lien in favor of the new mortgage

holder Countrywide See TriecaLenuing Corporatiovr v Reul Estate Depot Inc

42 So3d 258 2f2G4 Fla App 4th DCA 2010 Thus if there was any potential

for plaintiffs to mitigate their damages that possibility was destroyed by the

creation of the equitable lien

The term damages refers to pecuniary compensation recompense or

satisfction for an injury sustaind The mast common type of damages in tihe

delictua context is campensatory dainages Winwriglit v Forrtenot 000492

La 101700 774 Sc2d 70 74 Generally compenstorydamages are awaded

on the basis of the loss suffered arld are designed to replace the loss caused by the

wrong or injury Stated ancther way the purpose of a compensatory datnage

award is to restare the injured party as closely as possible ta the position he would

have been in had the accidcnt or incident never occurred Sharp v Daigre S45

So2d 1063 1U64 La App I st Cir 1989 affirmelSSS So2d 1361 La 1990

Cenf Ainerican Surplus Lrnes Insurance Cn v Bass 48Ei Sa2d 789 793 La

App l st Cir writ denied 489 Sa2d 245 Lal86

Compensatory damages are further divided into the broad categories of

special damages and generaldmaes Special damage5 are those that either must
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be specially led or have a ready market value ie th amount of the damages

supposedly can be determined with relative certainty including medical expenses

and lost wages On the other hand general damages are those that may not be

masured with any degree of pecuniary exacitude are inherently speculative in

nature and carinot be fixed withiathematical certainty See McGee v A C arrct S

Inc OS1036 La71006 933 So2d 770 774 The terigeneral dainages

includes thase far mental or physical pain or suttering inconvenience loss of

gratitication or intellectual orplysical enjoyment or other losses of lifestyle which

cannot be measured definitively in teriTsof money In re MelrcalReview Panel

on Behalf ofLrurent 94166lLa App 1 st Cir G2395 657 So2d 713 722

There is no mcchanical rule for determining general damages rather facts

andcicumstances cfeach case contrcl Stockstil v CF Industries Ine 94

2072 La App 1st Cir 121595 6b5 So2d 802 S17 writ cfeniecl 9G0149 La

31S9fi fiG9 Sc2d 42 Geneially in the assessment of damages in cases of

offenses quasi oilenses and quasi contracts much discretion nust be left to the

trieroffact See La GC art 23241 Nonpecuniary damages for fraudulent acts

cai include recovery for inental anguish aggravation and inconvenience that the

wronglul actions caused See Mendor v Toyntcr of Jeffersnn Inc 332 So2d 33

438 Ia 1976 See also In re Rushing 424 BR 747 75354 Bankr MD La

2010

The actions of Kelly and Voss have or will caus the plaintiffs loss of their

tirne inoney and waes tc7 seek legal representation and to file any legal

proceedins inIouisiana andor Florida In arder for plairatitfs to pursue their

rmedies in Florida they would have expenses including the costs of

corrmunicatin with Florida leal ccunselpssibly hiring experts traveling to and

staying iri 1lorida and lost wages Nevertheless these particular damages are

special and znust be determined with relative certainty Since plaintifs have not

29



pYesented any evidenc as to the specitic amount of these damages any award of

these special damages would be speculative on our part Moreover we decline to

award the amount of special monctary damages sought by plaintiffs basd an the

loss of their share of the property Io do so would require this Court to decide the

issue of ownership an issue over which we lack jurisdiction

This case presents a situation whGre the damage sustaindby plaintiffs is not

physical and is hard to quantify 7heir damages result frorri the harm caused to

their rihts as property owners and their relationship to tle property 73 Corpus

Juris Secundum Property 44 2011 provides

Ownetship cfproperty comprises numerous difterent attributes
including dominion control right itaterest and title Thc chief

incidetlts of the ownership of property are the right Co its possession
the right to its use and the right to its enjoyment Some courts say the
clief incidents ofcwnership of property are the rights of use and
enjoyment and of disposition It has also been said that the threc

primary indicia of owzaership of personal property are title
possession and control which includes the rihtto sell dispose of or
transfer The pximary incidents of ownership have been expressed
elsewhere as includin the riht to posscssion use and enjayment of
thepoperty the right to change or improve the property and th right
to alienate the property at will Footnotes omitted

Subject to liinitations and qualilications ownership also ives a property

owner the right to the natural proEer and profitable use of the land the right ta

income or profits accruing fron the property the riht to invite other persons to

usE the property or conversely to exclude them from doing so the right to change

or improve thepoperty arad the right to sell the praperty

Ylaintiffis admitted they knew tkere was a risk that the value of the

ivestment property would decrease That event however is not the source of the

plaintiffs damage Instead their harm was a result ot the loss of or impingement

on theic rights as relproperty owners actual andor on thc public record The

comUined actions of Kelly and Voss changed the plaintiffs relationship to the
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property they na loner had trllzights of ownesipincludin the right to enjoy

use protit and change the property

Awards of general damaes far mental anguish and inconvenience arising

irom the loss of us of property have been allowed in cases based on the claim of

tartious conversion of property See AlexaneYv wik Change Crrr Cehte Inc

352 So2d 18 190 Ia 1977 The Supreme Court has alsc7 concluded that where

property has been wranfully seized through judicial process damages for mental

anguish and inconvenience due to t11e loss of use of the property are recoverabl i

See Nrssau Realty Co Inc v Lvwn 332 So2d 206 211 La 1976 Hernanclez

v Harson 237 Ia 389 401 111 So2d 320 324 1958 In Hernanctez the

Supreme Caurt stated

Ilaintiff is entitled to recover for humiliation mortification and
mental anxiety and for physical discomfort nd inconvenience as a
result ot the deprivation of use and enjoyment of his car Such an

item is not cantined to proof of actual pecuniary loss t is true that
thre is no p of malice nor was the seizure characterized by
harshness and total disregard to the interests of plaintiff Yet it was
illegally and wrongfully executed coupled with the continued

deprivation of its use for an extended period of time suficient to have
caused mortification annoyance and physical discomfort

Hernanclez 237 La at 40102 111 So2d at 324

Ierein the testimony indicates that plaintifts telt cheated and betrayed and

were unable to use and enjoy the prcperty They did not voluntarily choose to ive

up their rigllt to use or enjoy the propertyiather their rights were damaged by the

actions of Kelly and Voss Based on our review of the evidence in the record we

iind plainti ffs suffeed interference and impingement on their right5 as owners of

real property inconvenience and mental anguish caused by the tortious acts of

Kelly and Voss AccrdinlyThomas I McGuire Ill and E Douglas Henriksen

are each entitled to an award a1500000for general damaes
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coNcLUS1oN

For the reasons set forth in this opinion that portion of th trial court

judgmztdismissing the plaintifsclaim for damages against detendants John J

Kelly and David C Voss is reversed and vacated We hereby render judgment in

favor of tlc plaintiffsIhomas L McCuire III and E Douglas Henriksen and

against defcndants John J Kelly and David C Voss rn svlido for general

damages in the sutn of15000004to each plaintiff together with legal interest

thereon as provided by law and fior all costs In all other respects the judgment of

the trial court is aftirmed

AFFIRMED IN PART REVERSED IN PART AND RENUERED
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VERSUS

OHN 7 KELLY

McCLENDON agrees in part and dissents in part

I agree with the majority that there is sufficient evidence to conclude that I

Kelly committed fraud by forging his partners signatures therby obtaining an

unjust advantage However T must respectfully disagree with the majoritys

finding that the actions of Voss the notary amounted to fraud Althaugh here

is no question as to the fault af Voss or that his negligence as a notary public is

actionable I cannot find that Voss wha failed to exercise the required care in

performing his duties as a notary committed the intntianal act of fraud

Louisiana Civil Code article 1953 provides

Fraud is a misrepresentation or a suppression of the truth
made with the intentian either to obtain an unjust advantage for
one party or ta cause a loss or inconvenience to the other Fraud
may alsa result from silence or inaction Emphasis added

I find the majoritysapplication of fraud in this case to be too far reaching As

the majority correctly notes fraud requires the intent to deceive However

fraud cannot be predicated on mistake or negligence no matter how gross

Fraudulent intent which constitutes the intent to deceive is a necessary element

of fraud Whitehead v American Coachworks Inc 020027 p 6La App

1 Cir 122002837 So2d 678 682

Voss testified that h believed that the plaintiffs werE at J Alexanders

Restaurant when the quit claim deed was executed He stated that when he

entered the restaurant Kelly was talking to a larg group of inen who were at



the end of the bar Voss stated that he thought that piaintiffs were in the group

but that it was kind of embarrassing because he had previously met the

plaintiffs but did not recognize them When Kelly showed him the unsigned

dacument Voss looked at it and thinking that plaintiffs were present stated

Lets get it signed Voss said he started watching a basketball game an

television and Kelly went back to the group with the document When the

document came back to Voss the signatures were affixed to it At this point

Voss notarized the dacument Voss estified that although he did not witness the

signatures he assumed knowing Kelly and trusting him that the plaintiffs were

there at the bar and had signed the deed On that basis he notarized the

document

I
In finding the notary commikted fraud the majorityrlis on the cases of

Lacour v National Surety Co of New York 147 La 586 85 So 600 La

1920 and Rocherereau v ones 29 LaAnn 2 La 1877 However these

cases are distinguishable from the present case as they involved situations where

either the natary knew of or participated in the forgery The majority fails to

make said distinction Further the appellate caurt in Collins v Collins 629

So2d 1274 1276 La App 5 Cir 1993 writ denied 940422 La 4494 635

Sa2d 110 also cited by the majority merely held that a notary may be liable

both for deliberate misfesnce in the course of his officil duties and for

ngligence in performing thase duties The court in that case reversd the

granting of the defendants exceptipns of no cause of action and no right of

actian finding that the plaintiff had stated a cause af action against the notary by

alleging that the notary vialated his natarial obligation by notarizing an act of

sale while he knew ar should have known that the person signing was not who

they purported to be andor by failing to request identification Collins 629

So2d at 177

More troublesome is this Courtsdecision in Summers Brothers Inc v

Brewer 420 So2d 197 204 LaApp 1 Cir 1982 Summers relied upon

decisions involving active fraud by the notary includinglacour and



Rocherereau to reach the concfusion that th rotary committed fraud when he

authenticated a document after it was signed despite the fact that the notary

was unaware that the signatures were forgeries I find the holding in Summers

to be misguided Unlike the present matter the cases relied on by the

Summers cour all presented situations where the notary was part of the I

deception and fraud The Summers court blurred the line between negligent

and fraudulent actions and the majority in this matker cantinues to do so Here

while Voss admittedly notarized a document that he knew was not actually

signed in his presence without exercising the ordinary care required of a natary

he did not deliberately notarize a document that he knew to be forged

Therefore I find that Vosss actions amounted to actionable negligence as

opposed to fraud

Additionally I disagree with the majoritysconclusion that Voss is liable in

solido with KElly Civil Cade Article 2324 provides in pertinent part

A He wha conspires with another person to commit an
intentional or willful act is nswerable in solido with that person
for the damage caused by such act

B If liability is not solidary pursunt to Paragraph A then
liability far damages caused by two or mare persons shall be a joint
and divisible obligatian A joint tortfeasor shall not be liable for
more than his degree of fault and shall not be solidarily liable with
any other person for damages attributable to the fault of such
other perspn

Article 2324A requires a meeting of the minds or collusion between the parties

for the purpose of committing wrongdaing Boudreaux v Jeff 031932 p

11 LaApp 1 Cir 91704 884 So2d 665 67Z Clearly Vosss actions

althaugh negligent and a breach of his duties as a notary were not a part af a

conspiracy with Kelly nor was there collusion between Kelly and Vass for the

purpose of authenticating a forged document There is simply no evidence that

Voss and Kelly were working together ar acting ascaconspirators In fact Voss

was also deceived by Kelly and led to believe that all the parties had signed the

document in questian The majority attempts to cloak Voss withcoconspirator I
status but there is na evidence in the record that suggests Voss had knowledge



of Kellys scheme The majoriysbut for ar7aiysis is insufficient to establish in

solido liability Accordingly I would find Voss liable for 30 of the damages as a

joint tortfeasor

With regard to the plaintiffs duty to mitigate their damages the law

requires a person injured by the wrongful act of anoher ta mitigate his

damagsit also requires him to resort to legal action in order ta mitigate those

damages Weber v McMillan 285 So2d 349 352 LaApp 1974 Gray v

State Department of Highways 250 La 1045 202 So2d 24 1967

Humphreys v Bennett Oil Corp 195 La 531 197 So 222 1940 The

record does not reflect any action on the part of the plaintiffs to have the

property restored in their names despite Kellys admissian that the signatures

were forged and his ofFers to fully caoperate in recognizing the plaintiffs interest

in the property Further the plaintiffs failed to hire legal counsel ta attempt to

correct the defect in the title or to have the fraudulent act annulled Had the

plaintiffs taken action to restore their title to the property their damages would

have been lessened

Lastly I would have awarded specific damages and disagree with the

majoritys conclusion that no specific damages could be quantified Clearly

specic damages could be calculated by beginning with the total loan amount

acquired by Kelly with the forged documents and subtracting the first and second

mortgage payoffs as well as property taxes insurance premiums and note

paymnts made by Kelly on the property at issue from the date af the

refinancing to the date of trial This figure is reflectiv of the unjust advantage

that Kelly gained by forging the signatures of his partners Furthrregarding

general damages given that the plaintiffs made no effprt whatsaever to mitigate

their damages I would have awarded only 15000 each to McGuire and

Henriksen over and above the specific damage award

Considering the above I respectully agree in part and dissent in part

1 Because I do not find that Voss is solidarily liable with Kelly I also disagree with the majoritys
discussion regarding contribution

z To the extent the majority finds that attorney fees are too speculative I agree
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McDUNALU J dissenting

With al due respect to the majority I must disagree and respectfully dissnt

from this opinion in particular I agree with Judge McClendonsdissent finding

that Voss actions were negligent but not fraudulent I also agree with her

conclusion thaC the majoritysaward of general damages is excessive

While it is true that judgments are appealed and nat the reasors for I

judgmetshere the trial court specifrcally referenced its reasons for judgmntand

it is clear that certain factual findings were made Significantly the trial court

found that neither the actions ofKelly nor the attorney that notarized the quitclaim

deed were prompted by the intent required to prove a finding of fraud Our inquiry

the should be does the record reasonably suppart that finding or is it clearly

wrong

The trial court cited the definition of fraudamisrepresentation or

suppression of the truth made with the intention either to abtain an unju5t

advantage for one party or to cause loss or inconvenience to the other and notd

that a finding of fraud requiares proof stronger that a mere preponderance of the

evidence La CC art 1953 The majority is correct that the trial court applied

the wrong standard of proof for findirg fraud The proper standard for proving

fraud is in fact by a preponderance of the evidence However the majority



correctly notes 1f only one of the factual tindings is tainted by the application of

incorrect principles of aw that are prejudicial th appellate courtsde novo review

is limited to the finding so affcted Boyd v Boyd 201013b9 La App 1 Cir

21111 57 So3d 1169 1174 Rideczu v State Farm Mutual Autorrtobile

Irasurcznce Co 20460894 La App 1 Cir82907970 So2d 564 The majority

then tinds that the trial courts application of the erroeous legal standard for

fraud was prejudicial and skewed the trialscourts numerous findings as to issues

of essential material fact including credibility intent and the existence of

damages The majority conducts a de novo review of the entire record rather than

limiting the error to Che affected finding While the trial courtsapplication of the

wrong 5tandard may have had some impact on the findings concerning Kly it

had nothing to do with the case involving Voss

I believe Judge McClendonsanalysis is correct regarding the erroneous

findings and conclusions about the notary David Voss Voss filed an application

for rehearing that presents excellntarguments concerning the majorityserrors

Initially Voss notes that the trial court signed a judgment on July 22 2408

grantin his motion for partial summary judgment that he did not commit fraud and

was only laabl for his allocable share of fault for any of the plaintitfsdanaes

Voss correctly indicates that this judgment was not appealed The judgment that is

on appeal is the one signed an November 9 2009 ThiS judgment came aftr the

trial and again the court found Voss did not commit an interttional act of fraud

The majority observes that Voss act of fraud was in connection with the

acknowledgement claus The majority finds

Voss knew that th plaintiffs did not appear before him and

acknowledge their sigrature on thded nar did he require that they
do so Thus by executing the acknowledgement clause Voss

intentionally misrepresented the circumstances surrounding the
quitclaim deed Fraud can result from a partys misrepresentations
silence or inactior See La CC art 1953 Although Voss testified
that he never meant to deceive the plaintiffs he admitted that Kelly

2
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told him a notarized deed was required ii order for Kelly to become
the propertys sole owner and accomplish the refinancing With this

knowledge Voss acted in concert with Kelly to complte the

acknowledgmertt clause in the deed that both men knew to be false
By executing the quitclaim deed and signing the acknowledgment
clause Voss actions were a deliberate misrepresentation and violated
his duties as a notary publrc in the course of his official notarial
duties Based on our review of th evidence and jurisprudence we
conclude Voss is liable because his intntional misrepresentations and
failure to require plaintiffs to acknowldge the quitclaim deed in his
presence caused harm to the plaintiffs

This is clearly a case of negligence but falls far short of an intent to decive Using

the majoritys analysis a notary would never be negligent and would always

commit fraud I disagree with the majaritysfinding that Voss deliberately

misrepresented anything His failure to have the plaintiffs appear before him was

certainly a violation of his notarial duties but does not constitut fraud or an action

in concert with Kelly to intentionally decive anyone In finding fraud the

majority fails to consider the key facts surrounding the signing of the quitclaim

deed Voss had performed legal tasks far the three partners in the past He

personally knew McGuire and Henriksen as we11 as Kelly When Kelly presented

the document to him at the restaurantbarit had not been signed and Voss thought

the plaintiffs were in a group of 10 to 15 people who were at the bar He thought

they had signed the document when Kelly brought it back to him I believe these

facts indicate a lack of intent by Voss to deceive ar defraud The majority finding
i

that Voss committed an intentional misrepresentation and was dishonest are not I

supported by the record

The majority adopts the plaintiffs contention that this courts ruling in

Summers BrothrsIne v Brewer 420 So2d 197 La App 1 Cir 192 requires

a finding of constructive fraud on the part of the notary The Summers case is

factually distinguishable Significantly the plaintiffs in Summers were the third

parties who relied on the notarized documents the plaintiffs in the case before us

did not rely on the notarized document but were the individuals whose names
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were forged on the quitclaim deed They were not harmed because they relied on

the document Rather they were harmed by the actions taken by Kelly iniorging

their names and having the deed notarized and recorded in Florida I believe Voss

is correct that his actions are more in line with the cases in which the notary

believed that the document was being signed in hisprsence by the person but that

beliet was mistaken because of a misrepresentation by a third person Quely v

Paine Webher Jacicson c4 Curtis Inc 475 So2d 756 761 La 1985 Webb v

1inneer Bank Trust Co 530 So2d 115 La App 2 Cir 1988

I agree with Judge McClendon that Voss is not liable in solido with Kelly

for any liability Kelly might have Louisiana Civil Code article 2324 requires a

conspiracy betwenthe actors There is nothing in the record to show collusion

between Voss and Kelly to authenticate the quitclaim deed While Voss was

certainly negligent in his notarial duties there is no evidence that there was any

agremntbetwenthe two to forge the document The majority assets that Kelly

admitted deceiving Voss If the majority is correct then Voss could not have

participated in a conspiracy Therefare I believe fault should have been allocated

between Kelly and Voss and suggest Judge McClendons allocation iscrtainly

rasonabl Kelly had a long standing relationship with Voss and intenticnally

deceived him Voss actions were mrelyngligntAllocating 30 fault to Voss

and 70 to Kelly is equitable

The case against Kelly is certainly stronger than that against Voss

However even conducting a de novo review of his actions I believe the court was

correct The trial court found that While Kellys decision to forge the

plaintiffs names on the quitclaim deed was certainly untruthful there is no

evidence that he did it to obtain arty unjust advantage or to inconvenience his

partners
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I disagree with the majoritysconclusians and believe the trial court was

conrect There ar telephorte records confirming Kellys claim that he tried to

reach Hendrikser on the afternoon he met with the notary and also on the

following day Considering all of the facts the nature of the prior relationships

among the parties the fact that it was Kellysfinancial strength that allowed the

parties to invest in the property Kellysposition as managing partner when the

property was owned by San Destin InvesmentLLC his majority ownership

interst and the prior refinancing I believe the trial court was correct in findirg

that Ke11y did not intend to defraud his partners It is important to note that once

confronted by them in the suit he agreed to do whatever they wanted to correct the

transfer and readily agreed to the requestd injunctive relief that he would not

further encumber or alienate the property without their consent

The trial coutalso noted in its reasans for judgment that while the acts of

Kelly and Voss were wrong the plaintiffs had not proven that they sustained actual

damages Since these findings were not based on an erroneous legal princiale this

portion of the judgment should be subject to the manifest error standard and not a

de novo review Boyd v Boyd 57 So3d at 1174 Even conceding far arguments

sake that the measure of damages should be calculated as af 1Vlay 2006 when the

wrongful acts occunred the plaintiffs must still prove that they were damaged

Plaintiffs direct our attention to the cash portion of the May 2006 refinancing

almost 40000000and correctly claim that a portior of that equity should have

been available to them However both laintiffs vi orousl com lained of Kell s

I
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further encumbrance of the investment McGuire testifidthat he intended to pay

the monies that would be required to meet the propertysobligations out of his

pocket as he had prior to the June 2005 refinancing Hendriksen repeatedly

testified that he did not want the property ncumbered further Tlae fact remains

that by July 2006 the many obtained in the 2005 refinancing that was to be used
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to meet the rtote on the property wauld be exhausted Neither of the plaintiffs were

required to put any more money in the invstment after May 2006 More

importantly Kelly is liable for the debt incurred for the use of th equity cashed

out in May 200Ei and the plaintifEs are not

it is true that in May 2006 the public records in Florida indicated that

plaintifshad no owrtership interest in the Driftwood praperty a fact that no doubt

shocked the plaintiffs when they initially learned it However they were

simultaneously relieved of a portion of liability for over120000000in loans

The property was listed for sale with a real estate broker in April 2q06 or

299500000 McGuire testified that he received avrbal offer of0004000

around that tim and he told the offeror that the partners willnver take that An

offer for220000000was then proposed When told of the offer Kelly said that

he thought the property was worth at least250000000but three days later

agreed to take the offer with certain conditions The offer was never reduced to

writing At the time of trial the property was listd or199900000and the

indebtedness on it was180000000 There had been no offers to buy

Apparently the real estate market for these types of properties in Destin was not

then what it was in 2405 The testimony was at that time the properties values

were increasing appreciably monthly The plaintiff retain their ownership

interests in the property pursuant to the counter letter provided by Kelly They also

retain the right o demand an accounting from Kelly should the real estate market

return their investment to its original potential

This property was purchasd in 2004 as an investment McGuires

testimony was that he intended to hold onto it for a year and then sell it It was

McGuire who originally interested Hendriksen in investing as they had previously

invested in propety together McGuire and Hendriksen were not interested in

investing in such an expensive property and did not have the financial strength to
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qualify for financing even had they wanted to Hendriksnknew Kelly who was

a real estate devloper that had handled transactions of this magnitude The three

ended up as owners in the property with McGuire and Hendriksensintrstbein

22zeach and Kellysinterest being SSa Nevertheless the expenses were split

such that 2S each was owdby McGuire and Herdriksen and SO was owed by

Ke11y except for the utilities which were paid 13 each At the time of purchase

the properiywas encumbered by approximately120000000oti indebtedness and

had appraised for at least260000000 However in spite of the original

intention in 2005 the property was refnanced and money was taken out to finance

improvements and maintenance of the property including the monthly mortgag

indbtedness All parties agreed to this and all weare liable for thir pro rata hare

of the dbt Effctive May 2006 anly Kelly was liable for the debt The property

is now worth approximately60000ard almost 1 million more than that is

owed on it t is easy to see how the trial court reached the canclusion that the

plaintiffs did not prove any damages I find no error in that finding by the court

Kelly answered the appeal claiming that the trial court erred in denying his

reconventional demand and also in assessing court costs to him Klly claims that

the plaintiffs are still owners of the property in accordance with their original

agreemntand seks reimbursement for their share of the expenses of the property

Althouhplaintiffs did originally claim an ownership interest in the proprty even

after the May 2006 transaction at the time of trial they denied any ownership

interest in the property Even assuming that it has always been Kllys position

that the ownership interest in the praperty remained unchangdand he has signed

a counter letter to that effect according to the state of Floridaspublic records the

property is owned solely by Kelly Legally I believ that to be the case at this

time Therefore until plaintiffs take steps to restore their ownership interests
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Kelly has no right to demand reimbursemntfar the monies he has invested in the

proprtyor compensation from the plaintiffs for unjust enrichment

I believ the majority is correct when it states that the issues of nullity of

the quitclaim deed and ownership af the property must be decided in a Florida

curt However the majority then awards damages for interference and

impingement on the plaintiffs rights as owners of the property I agree with Judge

McClendon that the plaintifFs have done nathing to restore the property to their I

name Until they do so any claim for darnages is premature and speculative at

best

While i agree with the trial court that the plaintiffs failed to prove any

damages if any are due I agree with Jude McClendot that any general damage

award for emotional distress should be in the 15000 range at most It i s hard to

imaine how the majority arrived at a figure that is ten times that suggested by

Judge McClendon Whi1e the factual scenario of this case may not be

commonplace neither is it extraordinary Yet the majority cites no legal authority

for its award

For these reasons I respectfully dissent I belivethe actions of tlle notary

Voss to be negligent and I do not believe there is any proof that he is solidarily

liable with Kelly His fault should be allocated with that of Kelly I believe the

trial court was correct in tinding that Kelly did not intend to defraud the plairttiffs

and in fndin that the plaintiffs failed to prove any damaes lf any damages are

due Irtd the majoritysaward to be excessive

8


